
 

 
Agenda No. 2011-17 September 12, 2011 Page 1 of 3 

FAIRBANKS CITY COUNCIL 

AGENDA NO. 2011‐17 

REGULAR MEETING September 12, 2011 
FAIRBANKS CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

800 CUSHMAN STREET, FAIRBANKS, ALASKA 

 
 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
 
 
 
I 7:00 P.M. 
 
 
1. ROLL CALL 
 
 
2. INVOCATION 
 
 
3. FLAG SALUTATION 
 
 
4. CITIZENS COMMENTS, oral communications to Council on any item not up for Public 

Hearing.  Testimony is limited to five (5) minutes.  Any person wishing to speak needs to 
complete the register located in the hallway.  Normal standards of decorum and courtesy 
should be observed by all speakers.  Remarks should be directed to the City Council as 
a body rather than to any particular Council Member or member of the staff.  In 
consideration of others, kindly silence all cell phone, electronic and messaging devices.  

 
 
5. APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND CONSENT AGENDA 
 

(Approval of Consent Agenda passes all routine items indicated by an asterisk (*).  
Consent Agenda items are not considered separately unless a Council Member so 
requests.  In the event of such a request, the item is returned to the General Agenda). 

 
 
6. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 
  

AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 1 of 41



 

 
Agenda No. 2011-17 September 12, 2011 Page 2 of 3 

7. SPECIAL ORDERS 
 

a) The Fairbanks City Council, Sitting as a Committee of the Whole, will hear 
interested citizens concerned with the below-referenced Liquor License 
Application for Transfer.  Public Testimony will be taken and limited to five 
(5) minutes.   

 
 Transfer of Ownership: 

 Type: Beverage Dispensary 
 License: Shenanigan’s, #2851 
 Licensee/Applicant: Tiffany Andrei West 
 Physical Location  2406 S. Cushman Street, Fairbanks 

 Current DBA: Shenanigan’s, #2851 
 Licensee: Tiffany Park West, Inc. 
 Location: 2406 S. Cushman Street, Fairbanks 
 
b) The Fairbanks City Council, Sitting as a Committee of the Whole, will hear 

interested citizens concerned with the below-referenced Liquor License 
Application for Transfer.  Public Testimony will be taken and limited to five 
(5) minutes. 

 
 Transfer of Ownership: 

 Type: Beverage Dispensary 
 License: Reflections, #1920 
 Licensee/Applicant: Tiffany Andrei West 
 Physical Location  2406 S. Cushman Street, Fairbanks 

 Current DBA: Reflections, #1920 
 Licensee: Lighthouse, Incorporated 
 Location: 2406 S. Cushman Street, Fairbanks 

 
c) VACATION OF PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY (VA 001-12 / RP 002-12) ─ 

Request by CEM Leasing, et al, to vacate that portion of Braddock Street 
between 34th Avenue and Van Horn Road and to vacate that portion of 
35th Avenue between Leasure Street and MacArthur Street within the S ½, 
Section 2, T1S R1W, FM AK..  

 
 
8. MAYOR'S COMMENTS AND REPORT 
 
 
9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

a) Ordinance No. 5857 – An Ordinance to Amend Fairbanks General Code 
Section 74-117(g)(3) Regarding Purpose of Hotel/Motel Tax Discretionary 
Grants.  Introduced by Council Member Stiver.  SECOND READING AND 
PUBLIC HEARING.   

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 2 of 41



 

 
Agenda No. 2011-17 September 12, 2011 Page 3 of 3 

10. NEW BUSINESS 
 

*a) Resolution No. 4486 – A Resolution in Appreciation of Festival Fairbanks’ 
Beautification, Cultural, and Arts Activities.  Introduced by Mayor Cleworth. 

 
*b) Resolution No. 4487 – A Resolution Authorizing the City of Fairbanks to 

Request Funds from the Office of Homeland Security for Regional Fire 
Department Burn Prop and Training in an Amount of $150,000.  
Introduced by Mayor Cleworth.   

 
*b) Ordinance No. 5858 - An Ordinance to Amend Fairbanks General Code 

Section 42-1 Regarding Labor Relations.  Introduced by Mayor Cleworth.   
 
*c) Ordinance No. 5859 – An Ordinance to Grant a Return of Certain Building 

and Fire Department Fees for the Polaris Buildng Project.  Introduced by 
Council Member Stiver.   

 
 
11. DISCUSSION ITEMS (INFORMATION AND REPORT) 
 

 Committee Reports 
 
 
12. COMMUNICATIONS TO COUNCIL 
 
 
13. COUNCIL MEMBERS’ COMMENTS 
 
 
14. CITY ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
 
15. CITY CLERK’S REPORT 
 
 
16. EXECUTIVE SESSION: Firefighters’ Labor Negotiations 
 
 
17. ADJOURNMENT 

AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 3 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 4 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 5 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 6 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 7 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 8 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 9 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 10 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 11 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 12 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 13 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 14 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 15 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 16 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 17 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 18 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 19 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 20 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 21 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 22 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 23 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 24 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 25 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 26 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 27 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 28 of 41



AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 29 of 41



      Introduced by: Council Member Stiver 
         Date: August 22, 2011   

 
ORDINANCE NO. 5857   

 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND FAIRBANKS GENERAL CODE SECTION 

74-117(g)(3) REGARDING PURPOSE OF HOTEL/MOTEL TAX 
DISCRETIONARY GRANTS 

 
 WHEREAS, the City’s hotel/motel tax was implemented for the primary purpose of 

funding services for the promotion of the tourist industry and other economic development, and 

for the funding of services for the general public; and  

WHEREAS, revenue from the hotel/motel tax funds discretionary grants which are 

awarded by the City Council based upon the recommendations of the discretionary fund 

committee; and  

WHEREAS, the primary purpose of the discretionary grants should be the promotion of 

tourism and other economic development; and 

WHEREAS, the current ordinance does not specify this purpose, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FAIRBANKS, ALASKA, as follows:   

 Section 1. That Fairbanks General Code Section 74-117(g)(3) is amended as follows 
(new text in bold and underlined font, deleted text in strikeout font).    
 

Sec. 74-117. – Hotel/motel tax purpose and limitation. 
 
(g) The city council establishes the following criteria and process for the 

selection and application for discretionary funds. 
 

(3) The City of Fairbanks Discretionary Fund’s primary purpose is 
promotion of the tourist industry and other economic 
development in the City of Fairbanksconcentrates its resources 
in the areas listed in item (a).  WeThe Fund cannot support 
requests for the following: 

 
  (a) Loans, deficits, or debt reduction. 
  (b) Endowments. 
  (c) Scholarships. 
  (d) Health and social services activities. 

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 30 of 41



Ordinance No. 5857 
Page 2 

Section 2. That the effective date of this ordinance shall be the _____ day of 

____________ 2011.   

 

             
      Jerry Cleworth, Mayor 
 
 
 
AYES:   
NAYS:  
ABSENT: 
ADOPTED:  
 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
Janey Hovenden, CMC, City Clerk  Paul Ewers, City Attorney 

AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 31 of 41



 

 

Introduced by:  Mayor Cleworth  
Introduced:  September 12, 2011 

 
RESOLUTION NO.  4486 

A RESOLUTION IN APPRECIATION OF FESTIVAL FAIRBANKS’ 
BEAUTIFICATION, CULTURAL, AND ARTS ACTIVITIES 

 
 WHEREAS, Festival Fairbanks has provided the Fairbanks community with celebrations 

and beautification projects that have enhanced both citizen and visitor experiences; and 

 WHEREAS, Festival Fairbanks has brightened our City with innumerable flower boxes, 

planters, and hanging baskets full of vibrant blooms, which currently adorn City Hall, the 

Fairbanks Police Station, the Fallen Officers Memorial, and the Downtown Transportation 

Center; and 

WHEREAS, Michelle Roberts has always willingly taken on additional projects and 

tasks, somehow making staff hours and funds stretch to cover community needs;  and    

WHEREAS, our community is richer in historical heritage, cultural and arts events, and 

visual appeal thanks to the efforts of the Festival Fairbanks staff; and 

 WHEREAS, the City of Fairbanks and citizens appreciate the efforts, time, and talent 

this agency has invested in our community for the past 30 years.   

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FAIRBANKS,  

That the Council recognizes Festival Fairbanks and Director Michelle Roberts’ service 
to the City and our community in their many endeavors, and  
 
That the council extends its sincerest appreciation to the Festival Fairbanks for making 
our city come alive with color, music, and history.  

 

  PASSED AND APPROVED this ____ day of September, 2011.   
 

            
       Jerry Cleworth, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

            
Janey Hovenden, City Clerk    Paul Ewers, City Attorney 

AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 32 of 41



 Introduced By: Mayor Jerry Cleworth 
Finance Committee Review:  09/06/2011 

 Date:  09/12/2011 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 4487 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF FAIRBANKS TO 
REQUEST FUNDS FROM THE OFFICE OF HOMELAND SECURITY 

FOR REGIONAL FIRE DEPARTMENT BURN PROP AND TRAINING IN 
AN AMOUNT OF $150,000. 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council wishes to improve the skills and knowledge of  City 

of Fairbanks fire officers and those of mutual aid departments; and 
 

WHEREAS, a regional grant in the amount of $120,000 for this purpose is 
available from the Office for Domestic Preparedness, US Department of Homeland 
Security; and 
 

WHEREAS, this program does require a 20% match of $30,000; and 
 
WHEREAS, the required match funds are available in the Fire Department 

Capital Account. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF FAIRBANKS, that Mayor Jerry Cleworth is hereby authorized to accept and execute 
any and all documents required for requesting this funding on behalf of the City.  
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Mayor Jerry Cleworth is also authorized to 
execute subsequent amendments to said grant to provide for adjustments to the project 
within the scope of services or tasks, based upon the needs of the project.  
 

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS _____ DAY OF __________, 2011 

 
 _________________________________ 
 JERRY CLEWORTH, MAYOR 
 
AYES:   
NAYS: 
ABSENT:  
APPROVED:   
 
 
ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
______________________________ _________________________________ 
Janey Hovenden, CMC, CITY CLERK Paul J. Ewers, CITY ATTORNEY 

AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 33 of 41



      Introduced by: Mayor Cleworth 
         Date: September 12, 2011   
 

ORDINANCE NO. 5858  
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND FAIRBANKS GENERAL CODE SECTION 
42-1 REGARDING LABOR RELATIONS 

 
 WHEREAS, the City’s mission is to provide essential municipal services; and  

WHEREAS, the terms of the City’s collective bargaining agreements have a 

large impact on the cost of providing essential municipal services; and 

WHEREAS, it is the policy of the City to seek continuous improvements to the 

labor agreements in order to operate efficiently while compensating employees fairly; 

and 

WHEREAS, the City’s labor code is outdated in areas, and current policy needs 

to be set, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF FAIRBANKS, ALASKA, as follows:   

 Section 1. That Fairbanks General Code Section 42-1 is amended as follows 
(new text in bold and underlined font, deleted text in strikeout font.    

 
Sec. 42-1. - Labor relations. 

The mayor shall have the basic responsibility for the labor relations 

as set forth in this chapter, unless the Council by majority vote 
selects a different spokesperson. The spokesperson He 

specifically shall:  

(1)(a)  Have the authority to negotiate with representatives of employee 

organizations representing city employees for the purpose of 

arriving at collective bargaining agreements as to wages, hours and 

terms or conditions of employment. The council by majority vote 

may delegate the responsibility for negotiations to a qualified 

individual or entity to be a member of the negotiating team 
without negating the authority of the mayor to act as sole 
spokesperson for negotiations, provided that the Mayor may 
designate an alternate. The Mayor shall present any such 

AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 34 of 41



Ordinance No. 5858 
Page 2 

agreements as may be negotiated to the city council, along 
with an explanation and cost analysis, and Aany such 

agreements as may be negotiated between the cityshall not be 

effective unless and until approved by ordinance of the city council. 

In negotiating contracts, the Mayor will use provisions of the 

personnel program, unless directed otherwise, as guidelines to be 

achieved. The basic goal will be to treat city employees in a similar 

manner as much as appropriate, and to pay similar wages for 

similar work.  

(b)   Any amendments to a labor contract negotiated during the life of 

the contract shall not be effective unless and until approved by 

ordinance of the city council. The mayor shall convey the proposed 

amendment to the city council with explanation and cost analysis 

for the city council's consideration.  

(2)  Conduct labor negotiations in a manner as follows: 

(a)  Prior to negotiations for a replacement bargaining agreement 

(or any part of an agreement), or at any time as the city is under a 

lawful obligation to bargain economic terms of employment, the 

mayor shall present to the city council a copy of the expired 

collective bargaining agreement, where applicable, and a proposed 

replacement agreement.  

(b)  The proposed replacement agreement shall be presented to 

the city council at least one month prior to the commencement of 

negotiations. The city council shall meet and discuss the 

replacement agreement and shall provide discernible direction to 

the mayor concerning strategies, goals, objectives, etc.  

(c) The city council shall review and identify noneconomic 

bargaining items upon which the mayor may commence 

negotiations and reach tentative agreement. The city council shall 

review and identify economic bargaining items upon which the 

mayor may commence negotiations; however, the mayor shall 

AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 35 of 41



Ordinance No. 5858 
Page 3 

make no tentative agreement to any economic proposal which 

substantially deviates from the city council's approval prior to 

receiving further approval.  

(d)  The mayor shall provide the city council with quarterly periodic 
information reports which shall describe the status of pending 

negotiations. 

(e)  Upon completion of negotiations, the mayor shall, where 

applicable, present to the city council for ratification all tentatively 

agreed upon provisions in the replacement bargaining agreement.  

(f)  The provisions of section 50-83 regarding the one-year period of 

ineligibility for the employment of former city councilmembers shall 

be included in all collective bargaining agreements.  

(g)  The mayor shall analyze all nine labor contracts and look for a 

common policy on boiler plate language which will be consistent in 

each contract. This completed document shall be submitted to the 

different labor organizations and city council for review. A meeting 

shall be scheduled with all parties to establish a procedure for 

incorporation of the language into the contracts.  

(h)  In preparing for negotiations, Tthe mayor shall conduct a 

comprehensive wage and benefit survey before each contract is 

negotiated. This survey shall incorporate compensation data from 

the public and private sector.  

(i)  The mayor shall negotiate a competitive wages and benefits 

package at the average level revealed by the survey. Wages and 

benefits which are found to be above average shall be frozen until 

such time as the survey reveals suchwages and benefits have 

fallen below average.  

(j)  All direct labor negotiations, with the exception of original 

negotiating strategies, shall be negotiated in open sessions. 

AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 36 of 41



Ordinance No. 5858 
Page 4 

(k)  Not more than three on-duty union member employees 
may take part in negotiations.  The negotiation teams shall 

consist of no more than three  per side. 

(l)  Individual members of the city council shall not enter into 

separate negotiations with any union representative or 
memberorganization.  From the date of the Mayor’s transmittal 
as provided in sub-section 2(b) until the parties have reached 
an agreement on all issues, all communication, both written 
and oral, from the union should be addressed to members of 
the City’s negotiating team and not to individual council 
members.   
(m)  The city negotiating team shall be solely embodied to negotiate 

on behalf of the city council.   

(n)  The city council shall be remains committed to the following 

goals during the negotiating process: 

1.   Reward superior employees with merit pay 
increases in lieu of Elimination of increases based 
solely on longevity pay for new hires. 

2.   Fair and reasonable deductibles in medical insurance. 

3.   Analyze possible alternatives to the state public 

employees retirement system plan. 

4.   Limiting personal leave to reasonable levelsThe 

use of accumulated leave time in a year by the end of 

the year with balances forfeited to the city. 

5.   Consistency between bargaining units, as well as 
between union and non-union employees. 

6. Negotiate contracts with annual wage & benefit 
reopeners if future sources of funding are not 
secured. 

AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 37 of 41



Ordinance No. 5858 
Page 5 

7. Seek to eliminate terms with complex pay 
premiums, work rules that reduce productivity, or 
other terms that impede accountability.  

  

Section 2. That the effective date of this ordinance shall be the ___ day of 

____________ 2011.   

 

             
      Jerry Cleworth, Mayor 
 
 
AYES:   
NAYS:  
ABSENT: 
ADOPTED:   
 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
Janey Hovenden, CMC, City Clerk Paul Ewers, City Attorney 

AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 38 of 41



      Introduced by: Council Member Stiver 
         Date: September 12, 2011   
 

ORDINANCE NO. 5859  
 

AN ORDINANCE TO GRANT A RETURN OF CERTAIN BUILDING AND 
FIRE DEPARTMENT FEES FOR THE POLARIS BUILDING PROJECT 

 
 WHEREAS, the Polaris Building, vacant and unheated for years, is a 

deteriorated property that significantly impairs our community; and  

 WHEREAS, the building is one of five of this type of structure built in Alaska, all 

five of which have posed similar problems in other communities; and  

 WHEREAS, one of these buildings, the McKinley Tower in Anchorage, was 

successfully rehabilitated by the same developer; and  

 WHEREAS, the developer has expressed his commitment to rehabilitate this 

piece of private property; and 

 WHEREAS, the development plan would provide for both commercial use (30%) 

and residential use (70%); and 

 WHEREAS, development of this property would positively impact use and 

occupancy of the Fairbanks parking garage which has operated at a loss since it 

opened; and 

 WHEREAS, the financing for this project is complicated with the current shortfall 

of approximately $500,000; and  

 WHEREAS, the developer has agreed to pay all building and fire department 

fees up front with the return of such fees conditioned upon the issuance of a certificate 

of occupancy within four years; and 

 WHEREAS, since the Polaris is private property, foreclosure would be subject to 

legal challenges, costs, and delays; and 

WHEREAS, in the event of foreclosure and abandonment, the community faces 

the possibility of expensive abatement and demolition of this property; the cost of the 

demolition was estimated at $3.4 million, an amount far in excess of the resale value of 

the property; and  

WHEREAS, there are no identified funds for the demolition of this structure and 

no identifiable funds for such a demolition in the foreseeable future; and  

AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 39 of 41



Ordinance No. 5859 
Page 2 

WHEREAS, if demolished, the impact on the Borough landfill would be 

significant; and 

WHEREAS, the Fairbanks North Star Borough Assembly has designated the 

Polaris Building as a deteriorated property, and both the Borough and the City have 

granted a ten year partial tax exemption and subsequent five year tax deferral if 

successfully and fully redeveloped; and  

WHEREAS, an agreement to return certain Building and Fire Department fees 

will help make the redevelopment project viable; and 

WHEREAS, economic development in the downtown area has been a long-term 

goal of the City Council, and  

WHEREAS, the rehabilitation of this building by a private business entity does 

not obligate the City in any manner as to the construction and financing of the project; 

and 

WHEREAS, the insertion of certain safeguards and deadline provisions in this 

ordinance will protect the City’s interests, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF FAIRBANKS, ALASKA, as follows:   

Section 1. That the City Council hereby agrees to the following 

with respect to certain Building and Fire Department fees and charges in 

regard to the Polaris Building project, designated as the rehabilitation 

project currently proposed by Developer Marc Marlow for the structure 

located at 1st Avenue and Lacey Street, Parcel Account Number 041811:  

1. The property must comply with the requirements of Chapters 3.10 
and 3.11 of the Fairbanks North Star Borough Code of Ordinances.  

 
2. The Developer agrees to pay all Building and Fire Department fees 

and charges associated with the Polaris Building rehabilitation 
project when they would normally be due and owing.   

 
3. The City agrees to return all Building and Fire Department fees and 

charges paid by the Developer in connection with this project if and 
when the City Building Official issues a certificate of occupancy for 
the structure.   

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 40 of 41



Ordinance No. 5859 
Page 3 

4. In order to qualify for this return of fees and charges, the Developer 
must commence work on the building no later than January 1, 
2013, and must receive a certificate of occupancy no later than July 
1, 2015.   

 
5. As a further condition of the return of building and fire department 

fees, the prior waiver and deferral of property taxes (Ordinance No. 
5645, As Amended), will be rescinded if the deadlines in part # 4 
above are not met.   

 
 
Section 2. That the effective date of this ordinance shall be the ____ day of 

____________ 2011.   

 

             
      Jerry Cleworth, Mayor 
 
 
AYES:   
NAYS:  
ABSENT: 
ADOPTED:  
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
             
Janey Hovenden, CMC, City Clerk Paul Ewers, City Attorney 

AGENDA PACKET - September 12, 2011 Page 41 of 41


	AGENDA - September  12, 2011 
	SPECIAL ORDERS
	Liquor License Transfer - Shenanigans
	Liquor License Transfer - Reflections
	Vacation of Public ROW (VA 001-12)

	UNFINISHED BUSINESS
	Ordinance No. 5857 

	NEW BUSINESS
	Resolution No. 4486
	Resolution No. 4487
	Ordinance No. 5858
	Ordinance No. 5859 




